

## Who's missing out? Access and equity in

## vocational education and training

#### Gillian Considine Ian Watson

Australian Centre for Industrial Relations Research and Training, University of Sydney

#### Richard Hall

Work and Organisational Studies University of Sydney



# Need more information on vocational education and training?

Visit NCVER's website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>

- ✓ Access the latest research and statistics
- ✓ Download reports in full or in summary
- ✓ Purchase hard copy reports
- ✓ Search VOCED—a free international VET research database
- ✓ Catch the latest news on releases and events
- ✓ Access links to related sites



## Who's missing out?

Access and equity in vocational education and training

Gillian Considine Ian Watson

Australian Centre for Industrial Relations Research and Training, University of Sydney

Richard Hall

Work and Organisational Studies, University of Sydney

The views and opinions expressed in this document are those of the author/project team and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government, state and territory governments or NCVER

#### Publisher's note

Additional information relating to this research is available in *Who's missing out? Access and equity in vocational education and training—Support document.* It can be accessed from NCVER's website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au/">http://www.ncver.edu.au/</a>.

#### © Australian Government, 2005

This work has been produced by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) on behalf of the Australian Government and state and territory governments, with funding provided through the Department of Education, Science and Training. Apart from any use permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process without written permission. Requests should be made to NCVER.

The views and opinions expressed in this document are those of the author/project team and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government, state and territory governments or NCVER.

The author/project team was funded to undertake this research via a grant under the National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program. These grants are awarded to organisations through a competitive process, in which NCVER does not participate.

The NVETRE program is coordinated and managed by NCVER, on behalf of the Australian Government and state and territory governments, with funding provided through the Department of Education, Science and Training. This program is based upon priorities approved by ministers with responsibility for vocational education and training (VET). This research aims to improve policy and practice in the VET sector. For further information about the program go to the NCVER website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>.

ISBN 1 921169 72 9 print edition 1 921169 78 8 web edition

TD/TNC 83.10

Published by NCVER ABN 87 007 967 311

Level 11, 33 King William Street, Adelaide SA 5000 PO Box 8288 Station Arcade, Adelaide SA 5000, Australia ph +61 8 8230 8400, fax +61 8 8212 3436 email ncver@ncver.edu.au <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>

## Contents

Tables	4
Key messages	5
Executive summary	6
Introduction and literature review	9
Equity in VET	10
Who's been missing out on VET?	12
The changing labour market and its effect on VET exclusion	13
The success of closer targeting of equity programs	14
Conclusions	16
Research design: Questions and methodology	18
Research strategy	18
Statistical modelling	18
Qualitative research	21
Research findings: Results of statistical modelling	22
Introduction	22
The youth model	22
The historical model	25
Conclusion to modelling results	26
Descriptive statistics	26
Research findings: Qualitative research	29
Conclusions	32
References	34
Support document details	37

# Tables

1	Odds ratios from multinomial logit model (young people)	23
2	Course enrolments by gender for those with VET qualifications (%)	27
3	Educational outcomes by NESB status, 20 years ago and today (%)	28
4	School sector by educational outcome, 20 years ago and today (%)	28

## Key messages

- ♦ Effective research into access and equity in vocational education and training (VET) requires a methodology that sheds light on both *who* is missing out on VET and *why* they are missing out.
- ❖ Specific sub-groups of young people systematically miss out on VET; structural barriers also stand in their way. Young people most likely to miss out on VET in the late 1990s were those with disabilities, those still living at home, those from single-parent families, and those from families with a history of parental unemployment.
- ♦ Patterns of disadvantage in accessing post-secondary education and training operate quite differently for VET by comparison with university. The VET system has made substantial gains in improving access and equity over the last 20 years, while access and equity with regard to university has deteriorated.
- ❖ The notion of disadvantage which has informed VET policy-making needs to be reconceptualised. There are major shortcomings in viewing disadvantage in terms of abstract 'client groups'. Target groups for VET equity initiatives need to be specific groups of individuals who face multiple disadvantages.
- ❖ Striking a balance between the pursuit of social and economic outcomes is essential for the success of community-based initiatives designed to address access and equity in VET. Indeed, for individuals who face multiple disadvantages in accessing VET, the pursuit of social outcomes should take precedence, and be recognised as an important stepping stone to the achievement of economic outcomes.
- ♦ A number of community-based initiatives are improving access and equity for groups typically excluded from the VET system. These initiatives seek to overcome the barriers associated with the individual characteristics of people excluded from VET *and* the structural barriers associated with the institutional setting.

## Executive summary

#### Introduction

This report explores some key issues in relation to access and equity in vocational education and training (VET) in Australia. The first issue concerns the two major philosophical positions (the *structural barriers* and *individual characteristics* viewpoints) adopted by the federal government and state governments in developing policies and programs designed to improve access and equity in VET.

The structural barriers notion is concerned with the way in which systemic and structural barriers within VET create an educational system which fails to meet or adapt to diversity within the Australian population (that is, why individuals miss out on VET). The individual characteristics notion focuses on individuals who fail to fit within the broader systems and structures that are meeting the VET needs of the majority of the population (that is, who is missing out). In the latter, however, the 'individual' is considered as part of a client group identified using broad sociodemographic characteristics. In the 1990s, five of these such groups were identified as being consistently under-represented in the VET system. These include: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people; women; people from non-English speaking backgrounds; people with disabilities; and people in rural and remote communities. However, the report argues that this client group focus approach has met with only limited success, as it can address only general aspects of group disadvantage and does not allow for specific individual needs. The case studies conducted as part of this research show how a philosophy based solely on abstract client group categories makes little sense in real-world settings.

The second issue concerns the two broad positions which have been advanced in the context of the longer-term purposes of VET. The *economics outcome* agenda expects to see VET meet industry's requirements for skilled labour, and measures the success of VET courses by their labour market outcomes. The *social outcomes* agenda, however, places more value on the outcomes of community development, social inclusion and social justice, and sees greater community involvement and a sense of social connectedness as critical first steps in achieving the longer-term goals of successful labour market outcomes.

#### Methodology and findings

The research strategy for this project used both quantitative and qualitative data analysis. The former is ideally suited to exploring *who* misses out on VET, while the latter is well placed to answering *why* they miss out. This report looks at both young people and adult workers; a range of specific disadvantages are examined, as are VET initiatives, in which both economic and social outcomes are relevant.

The quantitative research uses statistical modelling techniques to look at the pattern of disadvantage for a sub-group of younger people aged under 25—the 'youth model'. A sub-group of older people aged between 35 and 40 is used to provide insights into how educational disadvantage operated 20 years ago. Both sub-groups form our second, or 'historical', comparative model. In broad terms, young people face three 'educational' options once they leave school: university, VET or no further

education. The report explores these three options for two groups of young people: those who left school in the late 1990s, and those who left in the early 1980s.

The findings indicate that those young people most likely to miss out on VET in the late 1990s are those with disabilities, those still living at home, those from single-parent families, and those from families with a history of parental unemployment. While these are disturbing findings, there are some grounds for optimism. Vocational education and training fares much better in terms of access and equity than does the university sector, where additional categories of disadvantage are evident. These relate to parents' occupation, the secondary school sector attended, and having come from an Indigenous Australian background. Moreover, the situation for VET has improved over the last two decades. In particular, male dominance over entry to VET has largely disappeared, and the occupational legacy of a young person's parents counts for far less today than it did 20 years ago. By way of contrast, the situation for universities has not improved, and, in some respects, it has deteriorated. In other words, the optimism is based on comparisons: doing better on access and equity outcomes than universities and improving over time.

It is important to recognise that this optimism cannot be grounds for complacency. These statistical findings are not definitive, and the quantitative analysis is concluded by highlighting some of the shortcomings of statistical modelling. Of particular concern was the inadequacy of the three-outcome dependent variables for identifying important differences in course enrolments within VET. We are also concerned about the way such modelling imposes the need for aggregate categories among the independent variables (such as gender and non-English speaking migrants). These shortcomings are accommodated through two strategies. Firstly, some additional descriptive statistics are presented, which show, among other things, that issues of gender equity within VET remain problematic. Secondly, the qualitative material is used to examine these rather abstract, aggregate categories. This allows us to present a more complex and detailed account of how specific groups of individuals have fared within VET. In this respect, the qualitative research deepens and extends the quantitative research. In addition, the qualitative material provides insights into issues of process, illuminating the tricky question of *why* certain outcomes emerge in the way they do.

The qualitative research conducted for this study looked at a specific group of young people and VET, at training for adult workers and at issues of community development. One case study explored how young people alienated from education were being re-introduced to educational activities through some of the flexible learning initiatives which community-based practitioners have developed in conjunction with technical and further education (TAFE) institutes. Another case study looked at a group of adult workers—in this case, Vietnamese outworkers—for whom a TAFE-based course conducted off campus provided the opportunity to gain skills recognition and increase future options in the labour market. The third case study examined an innovative community development initiative, which aimed to break down the social isolation faced by a group of women living in a public housing estate in an outlying metropolitan area—a group who faced a formidable set of barriers in participating in VET. These detailed case studies are presented as supporting material in appendices 1, 2 and 3 and can be accessed from NCVER's website at <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>.

The decision to focus on community initiatives within VET was prompted by some important case studies reported in the literature. These case studies—discussed in the literature review—described how VET access and equity issues were being dealt with in a number of different settings. Our own case studies sought to bring more analytical depth to this theme by exploring several key issues:

- ♦ Which specific groups were being targeted by these community initiatives?
- ♦ How was the issue of multiple disadvantage being addressed?
- ♦ How did different levels of funding affect the ability of community-based initiatives to address both structural and individual barriers to VET?

The key qualitative finding was that the notion of disadvantage which has informed VET policy-making needs to be reconceptualised. As the review of the literature demonstrates, there are major

shortcomings in viewing disadvantage in terms of abstract 'client groups'. The qualitative findings reinforce this view, and emphasise that the target groups for VET equity initiatives need to be specific groups of individuals who face multiple disadvantages. This report argues for a notion of 'cumulative disadvantage', the idea that the multiple disadvantages faced by specific groups interact in such a way that the difficulties they face are compounded. For example, when it comes to extending VET programs to homeless young people, these patterns of cumulative disadvantage may include histories of family breakdown, low levels of literacy and numeracy, behavioural, health and legal problems, and chequered histories of engaging with educational institutions.

The qualitative findings also demonstrated the importance of balancing social and economic goals. This does not mean that we simply want to replace the current emphasis on economic goals with a social agenda. Rather, it means that the relevance and value of social goals should be acknowledged, and the decision about how much to realign priorities should be made according to the specific situation, rather than by a prescriptive or abstract policy. With this in mind, our own conclusions for VET policy are not prescriptive. Instead we outline the kind of checklist which should guide policy formulation when it comes to access and equity within VET.

## Introduction and literature review

Access and equity in vocational education and training (VET) has been on the national training agenda since the Kangan Committee's recommendations in the 1970s (ANTA 1996a) initiated involvement from the Commonwealth Government in post-compulsory education (Smith & Keating 2003). Government involvement in VET has been varied, but two distinct issues that have been strongly influenced by state governments and the federal government require close consideration when examining ways of improving access and equity in VET for minority and disadvantaged groups.

The first issue concerns the different philosophical positions state governments and the federal government have taken when developing policies and programs aimed to improve access and equity in VET. At the macro level, the philosophical positions for advancing equity in VET have been dichotomised into what their proponents term 'a management of diversity' approach and 'a social justice' approach (ANTA 1998). The first position emphasises the systems and structures that create barriers to entry into VET for minority and disadvantaged groups (Barnett 1999), and will be termed the *structural barriers* philosophy in our report. The second position focuses on measuring and understanding individual characteristics and experiences that have been associated with exclusion from VET (Watson et al. 2000). It will be termed the *individual characteristics* philosophy in this report, and its key characteristic is its focus on 'client groups'. As we shall see, each of these frameworks leads to different approaches in dealing with issues of access and equity in the VET system.

The second issue concerns the longer-term purposes of VET. It is certainly true that education can be viewed as an end in itself, and as a worthwhile activity in any civilised society. However, in the context of restricted budgets and other limited resources, the goals for VET have tended towards more instrumentalist perspectives. Within this instrumentalism there are, moreover, two broad positions which governments and other key players have advanced. There is a more hard-edged *economic outcomes* agenda, which expects to see VET meet industry requirements for skilled labour, and which judges the success of VET courses by their labour market outcomes. But there is also a more open-ended agenda which promotes a *social outcomes* approach, in which community development, social inclusion and social justice outcomes are valued. Both these agendas co-exist within the VET system, and achieving a good balance between them remains an enduring challenge for VET educators and policy-makers. Indeed, it is the key argument of this report that recognition of the need for balance, and for the balance to shift at certain times, should be a cornerstone of VET policy in Australia.

Each of these agendas also has important implications for access and equity to VET, and we will examine this more closely below. It is important to keep in mind that there is no one-to-one match between these two different agendas and these two philosophical positions.

The structure of this chapter is as follows. In the next section, we outline more fully these two different philosophical positions. We will also explore how economic goals have dominated social goals with regard to education and training outcomes, and how this has led to additional barriers for people from minority and disadvantaged groups who face multiple disadvantages. The subsequent sections deepen the analysis outlined in the first section.

In the section 'Who's been missing out on VET', we look more closely at one of the key weaknesses of the *individual characteristics* framework when it comes to developing programs aimed to improve access and equity in VET for minority and disadvantaged groups, and in gaining a more precise understanding of the systemic and structural barriers to entry and participation in VET for these groups.

In the next section, 'The changing labour market and its effect on VET exclusion', attention is devoted to fundamental changes in the labour market affecting access and equity to workplace training, and the important role that VET can play in providing an alternative for workers seeking training. It will be argued that segments of the labour market are overlooked in the *individual characteristics* approach, and that closer consideration needs to be paid to the structural changes in the labour market influencing equity in VET.

Finally, in the fourth section, 'The success of closer targeting of equity programs', the success of community-based initiatives designed to improve access and equity in VET are outlined. Three defining factors can be attributed to the success of these programs and initiatives. Firstly, these programs and initiatives focused on the identification of more precisely defined 'community groups' instead of broader 'client groups'. Secondly, identification of specific community groups allowed for the development of programs that also addressed systemic and structural barriers in VET. Finally, vis-à-vis measuring program success, these community-based programs and initiatives sought a balance between economic goals (in the form of improved labour market outcomes) and social goals (in terms of encouraging closer connections between program participants and the wider community).

#### Equity in VET

#### Philosophical divergence

Both philosophical frameworks have shortcomings when it comes to prioritising access and equity in VET, and in this section we outline why this is so. It is worth noting that the *structural barriers* philosophy has been the dominant framework adopted in Victoria, while the *individual characteristics* philosophy has been favoured in New South Wales and other states. The *structural barriers* philosophy highlights how systemic and structural barriers within VET create an educational system that fails to meet, or adapt to, the extensive diversity within the Australian population. It is argued that, within this framework, advancing equity becomes a matter of reviewing organisational systems and structures that create barriers to entry and participation in VET and then identifying more flexible responses to managing diversity (Barnett 1999).

On the other hand, the *individual characteristics* approach focuses on how the individual fails to fit into broader systems and structures that manage to meet the needs of the majority of the population. Its equity goals are advanced by identifying groups of individuals with similar generalised social, economic or circumstantial factors that contribute to the under-representation of these groups in the VET system, and then developing and targeting programs aimed at overcoming these disadvantages (Watson et al. 2000).

At the macro policy level, the individual characteristics approach has become the foundation for many government policy and program interventions. In the mid-1990s, the Australian National Training Authority (ANTA) identified five main client groups along broad socio-demographic characteristics who were consistently under-represented in the VET system (ANTA 1996b). These client groups were identified as:

- ♦ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
- ♦ women
- → people from non-English speaking backgrounds

- ♦ people with disabilities
- ♦ people in rural and remote communities.

There are clearly limitations with each of these philosophies, particularly when they shape policy at a micro level. In the case of the *individual characteristics* framework, we can discern two clear limitations in focusing solely on client groups. Firstly, only those factors associated with barriers to entry into VET solely attributable to the individual are placed under scrutiny, and there is little recognition of systemic or structural barriers. Secondly, this framework ignores the diversity that exists among individuals within each client group because it assumes a certain homogeneity among the client group. In practice, it leads to a 'one size fits all' approach to improving equity in VET for each client group. On the other hand, the *structural barriers* framework approaches access and equity issues with a focus on 'cultural and community ignorance', 'sexism', 'discrimination', and so forth. In so doing, it can often neglect individuals, and thereby overlook the important questions of who actually does access VET and why they access that institution (McIntyre & Egg 2001).

In the same way that a balance is needed between the economic and the social agenda, so too is a merging of the best elements from each of these philosophical frameworks required. On the one hand, it is necessary to understand the individual characteristics of those who take part in VET, as well as those who miss out. This is the critical *who* question. At the same time, we must not ignore the specific systemic and structural barriers which operate in the VET system, in the labour market and in the wider community. This leads to the critical *why* question. As we argue later, the methodology behind this research project has focused on both these questions, and has sought to transcend the limitations apparent in each of these philosophical frameworks. The goal of sound research should entail gaining a better understanding of the diversity that exists among client groups, while also gaining an understanding of the systemic and structural barriers that more specific minority and disadvantaged groups have faced in accessing and participating in VET.

#### The influence of economic and social outcomes on equity in VET

In the 1980s the emerging dominance of economic outcomes in determining the principal function of education and training shifted the emphasis away from social participation and the ideals of universal access, characteristic of the 1970s (for example, Kangan 1974). With declining economic conditions in the 1980s, the Commonwealth's approach to the national training agenda emphasised increasing competitive advantage through improved technologies and a more highly skilled labour force (Smith & Keating 2003). In the 1990s the importance of servicing the needs of enterprises and improving the competitive advantage of industry were still very much apparent (for example, Kemp 1998; Nelson 2003). Although the rhetoric of social goals remained in parlance, these goals were embedded within economic outcomes as a means of bridging the divide between welfare and the labour market (Ferrier & Anderson 1998).

With the focus on economic outcomes, VET is predominantly and necessarily labour-market-driven (Carnoy 1994) and the economic benefits to individuals who have participated in VET are apparent. When compared with no post-school education qualification, the completion of a VET qualification is related to better labour market outcomes, both in terms of increased likelihood of full-time employment, as well as better wage and occupational opportunities (Ryan 2002).

The labour market advantages associated with completion of VET highlight the importance of striving to achieve a VET system that equitably distributes these advantages to different social groups within the community. Indeed, the focus on economic outcomes places greater pressure on achieving equity in VET, as lifelong learning becomes integral to participation in the labour market and to the success of individuals in increasingly competitive markets (Watson et al. 2003). However, for many different social groups, equity in VET has not been achieved in terms of access or outcomes (ANTA 1998) and therefore the success of VET as a conduit between welfare and the labour market is, at best, limited.

One of the reasons for VET's limited success in improving access and equity may lie in the overwhelming importance of economic goals and the lip service paid to social goals at the policy level. In striving to achieve economic goals—particularly in the form of specific labour market outcomes—VET may actually be erecting other barriers to accessing VET for minority and disadvantaged groups. Many disadvantaged social groups face multiple and cumulative disadvantages with regard to equity in VET (Golding & Volkoff 1998). We use the phrase 'multiple and cumulative disadvantages' throughout this report as a way of emphasising that a number of disadvantages often attach to specific community groups, and their interactions are such that the problems which they give rise to compound one another over time.

Evidence from community-based programs suggests that labour market outcomes should not be the primary focus for individuals who have had to overcome multiple disadvantages in accessing the VET system for the first time (for example, Durnan & Boughton 1999). Rather, improving social outcomes through VET participation, in terms of greater community involvement and a sense of social connectedness, may actually be the first step, or the first in a series of steps, in achieving the longer-term goals of successful labour market outcomes.

While social goals may never become more important than economic goals in relation to public expenditure on education and training, it may be time to recognise, once again, the importance of achieving a balance between social and economic goals. Indeed, in some instances, particularly where multiple disadvantages have to be overcome, the achievement of social goals may be a necessary precursor to the achievement of economic ones.

#### Who's been missing out on VET?

The *individual characteristics* framework has relied on the identification of client groups based on abstract and generalised socio-demographic characteristics to improve equity in VET. Some of the weaknesses in this approach—its neglect of structural factors and its homogenising of client groups—have been identified, and in this section we look more closely at this second weakness. We show how the *individual characteristics* approach ignores diversity among client group members and focuses solely on broad group characteristics related to access and equity issues in VET. In addition, we also show how the prevailing client group approach has failed to consider the emergence of additional social groups who face significant barriers to entry into VET as a result of fundamental changes to the labour market over the last two decades.

#### Weaknesses of the client group focus

The client group approach has relied on quantitative analysis to identify generalised sociodemographic characteristics which are then used to define social groups who have been underrepresented in VET. When dealing with public funds, this approach has the obvious advantage of casting a much wider net in its attempt to address access and equity issues. The disadvantage, however, is that it masks the diversity that exists between client group members. For example, the 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander' client group ignores the extreme cultural and linguistic diversity that exists among these people. Obviously, programs targeted at such broad client groups can have only limited success, because they address only general aspects of group disadvantage, and not specific individual needs (Barnett 1999). Furthermore, the limits of this approach are exacerbated by the cumulative disadvantage faced by individuals who belong to many different target client groups (Golding & Volkoff 1998). For those faced with cumulative disadvantage, targeted programs may actually stifle any opportunity to access VET, as individuals struggle to judge the relevance of different programs on offer (Watson et al. 2000).

Australians in the 15 to 19-year-old age group provide a clear example of how the client group approach falls short of advancing access and equity in VET. Access to and eligibility for participating in VET currently begins in compulsory secondary schooling at age 15. During the 1980s there was widespread expansion of VET programs in secondary schools as a direct response to

rising retention rates and the increasing demands this placed on schools to accommodate a more diverse student body (Lamb, Long & Malley 1998). However, the take-up rate of VET in Schools remains relatively low and provides no guaranteed pathway to further education and training. Although students who have studied vocational subjects in Years 11 and 12 are more likely to go on to further studies in the VET sector, compared with students who haven't taken VET subjects, they are also far more likely than any other students to not engage in any further formal education and training at all by the age of 19. Although participation rates are highest among 15 to 19-year-olds (NCVER 2001), young people are still identified as a client group because of the relative disadvantage faced by youth with regard to access and successful completion of VET (Ball 1999). Nevertheless, despite extensive growth in post-compulsory education and training opportunities during the 1990s, 30% of school leavers were not undertaking VET or any other formal education and training (Lamb, Long & Malley 1998).

There is obvious scope for improvement in the current broad-sweep approach to identifying client groups. Despite 25 years of policy and program initiatives aimed to improve access and equity in VET, gender discrimination, social and educational disadvantage, and cultural and linguistic differences still present significant barriers to entry into VET (Powles & Anderson 1996). In addition to the traditional barriers associated with market mechanisms, discrimination, and curriculum which have impeded access and equity in VET for client groups, new barriers have developed as a result of reforms to fee structures and delivery and assessment methods (Anderson 1998). Radical changes to the Australian labour market since the early 1980s have also raised concerns about the efficacy of continuing with such a broad approach to identifying client groups.

#### The changing labour market and its effect on VET exclusion

The transformation of the Australian labour market over the last 20 years has significantly affected access to training and skill formation opportunities for all workers. The workplace was once a traditional site for training for workers. However, access to employer-funded training declined substantially during the late 1990s and left individuals with greater responsibility for accessing and funding their own training (Cully & Richardson 2002; Hall, Buchanan & Considine 2002). Three substantive labour market changes in particular bear closer consideration when assessing access and equity to VET.

#### Getting left behind: Credential creep

'Credential creep' refers to the increasing tendency for hiring criteria, particularly those of education level and/or qualifications, to exceed those which are required to successfully perform the work (Livingstone 1999). In Australia, credential creep has gone hand-in-hand with the increasing expectation among employers that workers be 'job ready' and has coincided with declining levels of employer-provided and -funded training. Whereas VET once provided training that complemented workplace skill formation, it is now responsible, in some respects, for *replacing* workplace training. Credential creep has not been restricted to high-paid or high-skilled jobs and is increasingly affecting low-paid, low-skilled and entry-level work (Buchanan et al. 2001; Livingstone 1999). The real effects of credential creep in relation to access and equity in VET on the lower end of the labour market are yet to be specifically investigated. However, as Australians increasingly take responsibility for skill formation, it is apparent that levels of education and qualifications among workers, including those who are considered low-paid and low-skilled, are rising (Considine 2001). With regard to the VET sector alone, enrolments during the 1990s increased by almost 800 000 and corresponded to an increase in enrolments from 8.4% of the working age population to 13.2% (NCVER 2002). A major aspect of this growth has been the rapid expansion of traineeships which have been characterised by some researchers as being more indicative of labour market programs than skill development initiatives (for example, Cully & Curtain 2001). It is not hard to recognise that, as it becomes increasingly difficult to secure low-paid low-skilled work without formal training

and qualifications, access to and participation in VET becomes even more important to segments of the labour force that may never previously have considered VET a necessity (Watson et al. 2003).

#### Getting left out: Non-standard employment

The second labour market change affecting access and equity in VET is the rapid expansion of non-standard forms of employment and the decline in full-time permanent work. Part-time and casual work, labour hire and outworker arrangements are characterised by low-paid and low-skilled work with high levels of job insecurity—for example, elementary sales and service workers, contract cleaners, and clothing outworkers (Watson et al. 2003). Increasing the disadvantage faced by workers in non-standard forms of employment is the limited access to training and skill development opportunities typically associated with these forms of work (Australian Centre for Industrial Relations Training and Research 1999). However, as these forms of employment increasingly represent growing numbers of workers, exclusion from VET becomes more meaningful for larger segments of the workforce, and therefore closer consideration, in terms of exclusion from the VET system, is warranted.

#### Getting substituted: Structural unemployment

The third aspect of labour market change that may influence access and equity considerations with regard to VET are those associated with structural unemployment as a result of extensive job losses in many Australian industry sectors. Sweeping reforms in the manufacturing and public sectors, in particular, have eliminated many blue-collar, prime-aged, male-dominated occupations that were intrinsically incorporated into the VET system through apprenticeships and skill maintenance courses (Burke 1998). Although these retrenched workers have had previous, and in many instances extensive, experience with the VET system, structural unemployment and obsolete skills, compounded by possible age discrimination, have placed them at a significant disadvantage in terms of re-entering the labour market. Furthermore, although it is unlikely that these retrenched workers would be going into the growth areas of the labour market in retail and hospitality, sales and service work, they nevertheless may require significant re-training through the VET system to secure any employment.

Together the three labour market changes outlined above have significantly increased the pool of workers who may be missing out on training and skill development opportunities in the workplace. Although Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) labour force data shows that access to training courses for wage and salary earners has increased since the late 1980s, in real terms, actual annual hours spent in workplace training has decreased (Watson et al. 2003). Within the Australian workforce these skill development issues are creating increasing occupational segmentation. On the one hand, there are jobs that constitute an expert core of workers who receive training, and on the other hand, there are jobs that constitute non-standard forms of employment characterised by low-skilled work in which there is limited, if any, access to workplace training (Hall, Buchanan & Considine 2002). Under these labour market conditions, barriers to access and equity in VET for those missing out on workplace training needs to be examined.

#### The success of closer targeting of equity programs

The economic benefits of closely addressing access and equity issues in VET for very specifically defined community groups have been demonstrated in practice. Particularly successful have been programs and interventions that have not only aimed to improve access and equity in VET, but have also been tailored to address associated labour market problems and issues arising from discrimination in the workplace (Borthwick, Roussel & Briant 2002, p.27). In addition, numerous studies illustrate the success of tailoring the client group approach to meet the more specific needs of small community groups. Successful community group approaches have targeted access and equity in VET on three dimensions.

Firstly, the community group approach recognises diversity and identifies individual characteristics which are far more specific than those identified by the broader client group approach. The second dimension of the community group approach is that, in focusing on specific community groups, closer attention is paid to the systemic and structural barriers that restrict access and equity in VET for these group members. Finally, the community group approach balances economic and social goals and strives to achieve realistic outcomes for community group members. Numerous reports detail the nature and extent of these three dimensions to the community group approach undertaken for and by Indigenous Australians (for example, Durnan & Boughton 1999; Schwab 1998), disadvantaged young people (for example, Angwin et al. 1998; Spierings 2000), people in rural and remote communities (for example, Rural Industry Working Group 2001), people with disabilities (Barnett 2002), and people in correctional institutions (for example, Semmens 1998; Semmens & Oldfield 1999).

We explore some of these themes more fully in our qualitative research, where we present three detailed case studies based on field work. In the final part of this literature review we also address these themes, drawing on case study research conducted by others.

Each of the following examples of community-based initiatives provides a slightly different perspective on approaches to overcoming access and equity in VET for relatively small sub-groups at the community level. The Aboriginal programs improved access and equity in VET by focusing on issues faced by Indigenous people and by developing greater involvement with Indigenous culture. The Whittlesea program developed stronger connections between the young people and the broader community by including access and equity in VET in a multi-faceted approach to reducing overall disadvantage. And the Gateway to Awareness for Training and Employment project addressed discrimination in the workplace by improving employer awareness of the capabilities of young people with a disability.

#### Federation of Independent Aboriginal Education Providers

Noteworthy educational, labour market and social outcomes are being achieved by the Federation of Independent Aboriginal Education Providers through Aboriginal community-controlled adult education programs in Sydney, Adelaide and Alice Springs. These programs have been specifically tailored to address both barriers to participation in VET, and community needs. In reducing barriers to entry into VET, these programs addressed a range of issues, including literacy and numeracy, enormous cultural and linguistic diversity within the Indigenous population, and a range of social issues, including health, personal and domestic violence, substance abuse, forced separation from parents and incarceration. However, community needs were also integral to the training offered, including a diverse range of accredited courses such as Aboriginal Communities and the Diploma of National Indigenous Legal Studies and Aboriginal Dance Apprenticeship Training, as well as non-accredited preparatory certificates, including cultural instruction, cross-cultural awareness, tour guiding, and language programs (Durnan & Boughton 1999).

#### Whittlesea Youth Commitment partnership

The Whittlesea Youth Commitment partnership in a fast-growing outer Melbourne semi-rural suburb is a program with strong community involvement from a range of educators, employers and training providers, which aims to improve the transitions from school to work for young people within this disadvantaged community. This program, and indeed its success, is due to the multifaceted approach it takes in meeting a range of holistic objectives designed to improve the social connectedness and to reduce social and economic disadvantage of young people in the region. However, a key component of the program is the customisation of curriculum within schools, technical and further education (TAFE) institutes and among other training providers in order to more effectively meet the specific needs of young people not in full-time work or education (Spierings 2000). In particular, the Whittlesea program extends beyond a traditional broad target group approach by providing individually customised learning pathways, mentoring and other

initiatives embedded within the local community and which address the specific regional barriers to successful school-to-labour market transitions for young people, including access and equity in VET.

#### Gateway to Awareness for Training and Employment (GATE)

Initiatives designed to achieve economic outcomes for people with disability by improving their access to VET have to confront problems of discrimination in the workplace, as well as a lack of awareness among employers of the capabilities of people with disabilities. The GATE (Gateway to Awareness for Training and Employment) project in Launceston, Tasmania, aimed to improve access and equity in VET for young people with disabilities, by developing pathways into jobs in the manufacturing sectors within this region. Through VET in Schools initiatives and by working closely with students and employers, the project enhanced participation in post-compulsory education among young people with disabilities and broke down barriers between VET and specialist employment sectors by addressing discrimination in the workplace (Barnett 2002).

#### Summary

Together, these three community-based initiatives demonstrate the success of improving access and equity in VET for minority and disadvantaged groups. By focusing on smaller, more specific community groups, and by addressing the systemic and structural barriers to VET participation which these groups face, programs such as these have incorporated both economic and social goals into their activities. However, while these programs are very descriptive of their efforts in developing programs to address access and equity in VET, they have not been analysed to identify the relationship between barriers to VET participation and multiple disadvantage. The assessments of these programs presented in the literature (Barnett 2002; Spierings 2000; Durnan & Broughton 1999) provide valuable accounts of how access and equity have surfaced within VET. They do not, however, delve more deeply into the relationship between VET participation and issues of multiple disadvantage. It is this analytical shortcoming which we seek to address in our own fieldwork case studies (presented in detail in appendices 1 to 3, which can be found in the support document at NCVER's website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au>">http://www.ncver.edu.au></a>).

#### Conclusions

While the two philosophical frameworks discussed in this chapter remain quite distinct, there is much more overlap on the ground. Certainly, these frameworks still shape policy prescriptions, but at the community level we find a different story, where convergence is much more evident. At the community level, diversity is scrutinised to uncover patterns of disadvantage that are not only manageable, but are also meaningful at a local level. Successful VET programs are often characterised by processes in which specific community groups are identified, and in which multiple and cumulative patterns of disadvantage are targeted. At the same time, community-based interventions have been able to identify systemic and structural barriers faced by community group members.

Similarly, those who advocate the importance of economic goals within VET programs may secure funding. But in practice, a focus that completely subsumes social goals may erect barriers to entry into VET, particularly for individuals faced with multiple and cumulative disadvantages. As has been demonstrated by successful community-based initiatives, striking a balance between economic and social outcomes is essential. Making judgements and allowing, in some instances at least, social goals such as community involvement and social connectedness to take precedence over economic goals may, in the longer term, secure labour market outcomes that may not otherwise be achieved—if paid employment is the only criteria with which to measure success.

Currently, there is no systematic identification of the various community groups which stand to benefit from specialised programs aimed to improve access and equity in VET. The responsibility for the current development of community-based initiatives rests solely on innovative communities and key stakeholders within those communities. Advancing access and equity in VET beyond

current levels will be difficult to achieve without a greater understanding of the heterogeneity that exists within the currently defined client groups and within emerging social groups that face disadvantage due to labour market changes. As we have argued in this chapter, the *individual characteristics* approach has reached its limit in furthering access and equity in VET. At the same time, the *structural barriers* approach remains too limited because of its failure to engage with individual realities. What is now needed is a more holistic perspective which combines the best of each approach. It needs to examine closely the individual, labour market and household characteristics which contribute to diversity in community groups. At the same time, it also needs to highlight those barriers which block access and participation in the VET system for these very specific groups of individuals.

# Research design: Questions and methodology

#### Research strategy

The previous chapter makes it clear that a particular perspective has been adopted on how the issue of access and equity within VET should be approached. This perspective is characterised by a research strategy which emphasises:

- the need for philosophical convergence, in which the best insights from the individual characteristics framework are wedded to the strengths of the structural barriers framework
- the need for grounded research, in which statistical modelling is complemented by qualitative research material.

In relation to the second point, while statistical modelling is of great value, it does have its limitations. Indeed it shares some of the same limitations as the narrow client group approach, such as homogeneous and rather abstract categories. It is crucially important, therefore, that realistic, grounded research findings are also brought to bear on the same research problems. This means engaging in detailed qualitative research, particularly field-based case studies. This qualitative material is far from simply 'illustrative'. Indeed it is critical for answering *why* questions, for exposing structural processes at work, and for highlighting the experiences of specific groups of individuals. By contrast, statistical models must—by necessity—ignore *why* questions, as well as ignoring the specificity of its categories.

#### Statistical modelling

The rationale for statistical modelling is that descriptive statistics, such as cross-tabulations, can be misleading. For example, it may appear from such tables that gender is strongly associated with a particular outcome. However, this association may be due to a third factor (sometimes called a 'lurking' variable or a 'confounder'), which is not evident in the two-way table under scrutiny. In terms of labour market and educational data, this often surfaces as a result of 'compositional effects': the reason a particular ethnic group has certain outcomes is shaped by the fact that it contains an above-average proportion of women, or an above-average proportion of highly educated men, and so on. The great strength of statistical modelling over cross-tabulations is that it can control for these other effects and produce what we might call 'net effects'. That is, we can examine the association between, say, gender and a particular outcome, with all other factors held constant.

In the modelling employed in this report we attempt to move beyond some of the shortcomings of the client group approach, by including 'structural' factors in the model, and by developing an 'historical' model which attempts to capture some of the changes which have taken place in recent decades. For statistical modelling, we adopt a particular research strategy. We explore what patterns in young people's characteristics appear to be correlated with three kinds of educational outcomes: VET, university, or no further formal education at all. If there are patterns of disadvantage which work against university access, do they also work against VET access? What is unique about VET access compared with these two other outcomes? Finally, how have patterns of disadvantage evolved over the last 20 years? Has access to VET improved? What enduring patterns of educational disadvantage are still evident?

Firstly, the inclusion of the university outcome in our model provides an important historical and sociological perspective to the issue of access and equity in VET. Historically, VET (in its earlier incarnations) was the main destination for most working-class youth who undertook some form of institutionalised post-school education. From the 1940s onward, teachers' colleges provided an important avenue away from manual employment for working-class youth, because universities were only open to a tiny fraction of this group (mainly through scholarships or gaining entry as returned soldiers after the Second World War). In the 1970s this situation began to change. The expansion of colleges of advanced education and the steady growth in teachers' college enrolments allowed far larger numbers of working-class youth to escape a future based on manual labour. As a consequence of these new opportunities, the skilled trades became less attractive to the more able working-class youth. As university education expanded dramatically during the 1980s, this trend accelerated. In 1984, the Australian National Opinion Polls (ANOP) surveyed 15 to 24-year-olds about their further education plans, and found that 22% were interested in TAFE, while 19% were interested in university. By 1990, the level of interest in TAFE had nearly halved to just 12%, while interest in university had increased to 31% (Dawkins 1992). In other words, by the 1990s, university and VET were 'competitors' for a large group of young people, including those who in the past would never have considered that their futures lay in a university destination.

Secondly, from a sociological perspective, there is a long tradition of exploring educational disadvantage from the perspective of family background and structural factors. Beginning with the Coleman research in the 1960s, educational researchers have sought to understand the relative contributions which family background and the schooling system make to educational outcomes (Coleman et al. 1966). Coleman's initial findings were that family background mattered more than the schooling system when it came to school outcomes—a finding endorsed by some later researchers (for example, Hanushek 1986), but rejected by others (for example, Ferguson 1991; see Kain & Singleton 1996, p.88 for an overview of this literature). While our approach does not seek to make the same assessments this earlier tradition pursued (we do not examine, for example, school test results), we do build upon its insights. In particular, our interest is focused on how family background shapes the post-school opportunities for young people, and whether what we call 'structural factors' (in our modelling, school sector) are also important after controlling for the family factors. To pursue this strategy, we also need to include university, because it is one of the post-school opportunities which young people confront. Choice is always relative, and opportunities to access VET are shaped by what other opportunities exist. Phrasing this observation in terms of our research design, we would argue that patterns of educational disadvantage shape all post-school destinations, but they may not apply in the same way for each destination. If we are to explore these differences, we need to consider all post-school destinations.

Implementing our approach entails two kinds of models. First, we fit a model, which includes demographic and family characteristics of young people and associated structural factors, and ask how these are related to the three kinds of educational outcome just discussed. By demographic we mean gender, Indigenous background, non-English speaking background, and disability. Included in family characteristics are factors such as: whether the person is still living at home, whether their family is headed by a single parent, whether their father had been unemployed at some stage in the past, and the occupational background of the parents. Finally, by structural factors, we mean the educational sector in which they undertook their secondary schooling—that is, whether it was a government, Catholic, or independent school they had attended. In this first model, our population of interest is composed of respondents aged under 25, excluding those still studying at school. Our outcomes are defined as:

- ♦ VET qualifications, or currently studying at VET
- ♦ university qualifications, or currently studying at university
- ♦ no formal post-secondary school educational experience.

Our second model involves comparing this first population with a group of respondents aged between 35 and 40, excluding those respondents who migrated to Australia after the age of 15.

Unfortunately, not all of the same variables found in the first model can also be included in the second model (because they apply to the current situation of the respondent, not the situation which applied when they were young, such as current disability or currently living at home). Our reason for focusing on this population of middle-aged respondents is that they offer insights into how educational disadvantage operated 20 years ago. We make the reasonable assumption that most of these middle-aged respondents underwent their post-secondary educational experiences (if any) around the ages of 15 to 20, so that the situation which prevailed in the late 1970s or early 1980s is captured in the kinds of educational outcomes which they report. In this respect, we are exploring the historical dimension to educational disadvantage as it has applied to both VET and university experiences.

For both of our models, we make use of logistic regression, a common modelling strategy for dealing with categorical data; that is, data where there are discrete outcomes (such as VET or university). Specifically, we make use of a multinomial logit model, an extension of the binomial logit model. This allows us to make comparisons among three possible educational outcomes: VET, university and no education. In presenting our findings, we provide the results from our model in the form of odds ratios (or what are also called relative risk ratios or conditional odds). These express the change in the odds of one outcome vis-à-vis another (such as VET experience compared with no educational experience) as each of the independent variables is changed, with all the other variables held constant (the usual ceteris paribus [all things being equal] assumption found in linear regression). In terms of dummy variables, this means a change from one category to another (such as male to female). Compared with a binomial logit model, where there are only two outcomes and hence one set of odds, with a multinomial logit, there can be several sets of odds (for each combination of educational outcomes). While this adds some complexity to the discussion, the use of odds ratios remains a better method of presentation than simply listing coefficients, an approach which provides no meaningful story (since these coefficients express the results in terms of log odds, not a metric commonly encountered). The possible combinations of odds ratios in our analysis include: VET compared with no education, university compared with no education, and VET compared with university.

#### Data

The statistical data used in this report are drawn from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey carried out by the Melbourne Institute (2002) on behalf of the Commonwealth Department of Family and Community Services. Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia is a household-based panel survey whose first wave occurred in 2001 and which provides data on more than 13 000 individuals. For the analysis in this report, we have used two sub-populations:

- ♦ those aged under 25 (excluding those still studying at school), a group which numbers 1537 individuals
- ♦ those aged between 35 and 40 (excluding those who migrated to Australia aged over 15), a group which numbers 1517 individuals.

The data in the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey are very rich and of a very high quality. This allows us to model factors which have rarely been available. These include items such as: disability, father's past experience of unemployment, and single-parent parent status of the family. These last two factors are both available for when the respondent was aged 14, and thus provide particularly useful family background data for modelling educational outcomes for both sub-populations. Disability is only available as part of the respondent's current status, and is therefore dropped when the middle-aged sub-population is modelled. We have used it for the under-25 sub-population on the reasonable assumption that, for most of these respondents, the disability would have been present during their years of potential post-school secondary education. The key variables used in our modelling and their definitions are to be found in appendix 4 (which is provided in the support document at NCVER's website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>).

#### Qualitative research

The case study analysis began with an identification of specific community-based initiatives different from each other in two respects. In the first instance, we were interested in examining initiatives targeted at different community groups. By analysing these different community groups, we were able to examine a broader range of individual experiences with regard to disadvantage in VET participation and how multiple disadvantages are addressed. In the second instance, we were interested in examining the effect that different levels of resources had on alleviating access and equity issues in VET. From this perspective we were also interested in examining how different levels of funding affected the ability of community-based initiatives to address both structural and individual barriers to VET. In considering the range of issues that we were able to explore through different community groups and different resource levels, we were able to examine how social and economic outcomes were balanced at the community level.

In our first case study, we examine Behind the Label, a three-year, \$4 million New South Wales Government initiative. One of the aims of this initiative was to address access and equity in VET for migrant women working as outworkers in the textile, clothing and footwear manufacturing industry. This initiative had the highest level of resources relative to the other initiatives examined.

The second case study explored a two-year Commonwealth-funded partnership arrangement between the Salvation Army Oasis Youth Network and Waverley Action for Youth Services (WAYS) organisation. The Flexible Learning Oasis and Waverley Action for Youth Services (FLOW) initiative was aimed at reconnecting homeless and disadvantaged young people with learning and education. The level of funding for this initiative was substantially lower than that of Behind the Label, but for the purposes of this research, it constituted a medium level of resources.

In our third case study we examined the Claymore Animation Program. This is an ongoing initiative primarily independently funded by various religious orders with occasional subsidies from government grants. The program is based on a model of community empowerment to develop the knowledge, skills and leadership abilities of community residents in a public housing estate in an outlying metropolitan area. By comparison with the other initiatives examined, the Animation Program had relatively low levels of funding.

While our modelling provides the best insights into demographic, family and structural patterns of disadvantaged people with regard to participation in VET, our case study analysis allows us to disaggregate these abstract statistical categories and examine the actual experiences of specific groups of individuals. We turn then to an examination of why such characteristics are related to educational outcomes, and specifically, why they are related to access and equity issues in VET. The range of questions which informed our qualitative field work included the following:

- ♦ How are demographic, family and structural characteristics operationalised at the level of individual experience?
- ♦ What is the relationship between these factors in contributing to disadvantage in VET?
- ♦ Why, after years of intervention strategies aimed at improving access and equity, do barriers to VET still exist?
- ♦ How, if at all, is multiple disadvantage addressed?
- ❖ Does a holistic perspective, one which approaches access and equity issues in VET from both a structural barriers philosophy and an individual characteristics philosophy, provide greater insights than can be gained from merely aggregating the findings from each of these individual frameworks?
- ♦ How are 'social outcomes' and 'economic outcomes' balanced by community-based initiatives?

# Research findings: Results of statistical modelling

#### Introduction

As outlined in the last chapter, we fitted two models to the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey data: a youth model and what we have termed an 'historical' model. The youth model only makes use of the youth sub-population discussed in the last chapter, while the historical model looks at both sub-populations. The technical results are to be found in appendix 4. In this chapter we outline the key findings and then supplement these with some descriptive statistics. These are included for important methodological reasons which are discussed below. This discussion makes extensive use of odds ratios (also called relative risk ratios), a concept which was briefly explained in the last chapter: these ratios express the change in the odds of one outcome vis-à-vis another, such as VET compared with no educational experience, as each of the independent variables is changed (for example, gender), with all the other variables held constant. (Incidentally, odds ratios below one are unfavourable, those above one are favourable, and those in the region of one indicate no association.) We also make use of predicted probabilities, a concept explained more fully below.

### The youth model

So what can we say about VET outcomes? Who is less likely to undertake VET and who is more likely? Using as a comparison 'undertaking VET versus undertaking no further education' (see table 1), we find four categories of educational disadvantage when it comes to VET:

- ♦ young people with disabilities: the odds of someone with a disability undertaking VET are only
  60% of those of someone without a disability.
- ♦ young people still living at home: the odds of someone living at home undertaking VET are only
  70% of those of someone who has left home.
- ♦ young people from single-parent-parent families: the odds of someone from a single-parent family undertaking VET are also only 70% of those of someone from a family which is not headed by a single parent.
- ♦ young people from a family where the father has been unemployed at some stage in the past: the odds
  for this particular group undertaking VET are also only 70% of those of someone whose father
  has no history of unemployment.

In summary, both demographic and family background factors make up the pattern of educational disadvantage that appears to operate when it comes to VET. What about university? What pattern of educational disadvantage operates in this domain and how does it compare with VET?

Using as before 'undertaking university compared with no further education' (see table 1), we find that three of the four categories of educational disadvantage noted above are also evident, although in each case, the magnitude of disadvantage is greater:

- ♦ young people with disabilities: 40%
- ♦ young people from single-parent families: 20%
- ♦ young people from a family where the father has been unemployed at some stage in the past: 60%.

In addition, there are three other categories where the odds are much reduced:

- ♦ young people from an Indigenous background: the odds for this particular group undertaking university, compared with undertaking no education, are also only 30% of those of someone who is not from an Indigenous background.
- ♦ young people who do not have a parent from a professional or managerial occupation: the odds for this particular group are not shown directly in the table. Rather, the advantages of having a professional or managerial parent are shown as the increased odds vis-a-vis other occupations (nearly double) of undertaking university, compared with no education.
- ♦ young people from government schools: the odds for this particular group are also not shown
  directly in the table. Instead, the advantages of going to independent and Catholic schools are
  shown as the increased odds vis-a-vis government schools (double, and nearly four times,
  respectively) of undertaking university, compared with undertaking no education.

In summary, demographic, family background and structural factors are all part of the story when it comes to the pattern of educational disadvantage attached to university outcomes. Not only does this outcome introduce new factors into the story compared with VET, but it is also clear that the university outcome is associated with deeper levels of disadvantage where they share factors in common (such as disability and single-parent backgrounds).

The key story which emerges from table 1 is that most of the demographic, family and structural characteristics of young people are not statistically significant when it comes to VET outcomes. By way of contrast, there is a much deeper pattern of disadvantage associated with undertaking university. In essence, the pattern of educational disadvantage associated with undertaking university is both distinctive and profound. It accords with well-known findings in the sociology of education literature and with other contemporary research. By way of contrast, the pattern of disadvantage associated with undertaking VET is very much weaker.

Table 1: Odds ratios from multinomial logit model (young people)

Characteristics	Educational outcome				
	VET/Other	Uni/Other	VET/Uni		
Male	1.1	0.7*	1.5*		
Indigenous	0.7	0.3*	2.4		
Disability	0.6*	0.4*	1.5		
Still living at home	0.7*	1.2	0.6*		
First-generation NESB migrant	0.9	1.3	0.7		
Second-generation NESB migrant	1.2	0.8	1.5		
Single-parent parent family	0.7*	0.2*	2.7*		
Father unemployed at some stage	0.7*	0.6*	1.2		
Parent with professional or managerial occupation	1.0	1.8*	0.5*		
Parent with trades occupation	0.7	0.5*	1.4		
Catholic school	1.1	2.1*	0.5*		
Independent school background	1.3	3.7*	0.3*		

Notes: Population = Persons aged under 25, excluding those still at school.

Omitted categories for the dummies are: female, non-Indigenous, those without a disability, those not living at home, Australian-born with Australian-born parents, non-single-parent parent families, parents who are neither managers, professionals or tradespersons, and government schools.

\* Statistically significant at 0.05.

Source: Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey data

As well as odds ratios, the results of multinomial logit modelling can also be presented as predicted probabilities. These reflect the probabilities of educational outcomes as each independent variable (for example, gender and parental occupation) changes from one category to the other; for example, from male to female. It is common in presenting predicted probabilities to set all the independent variables not under immediate scrutiny at their mean values. However, we favour a different approach, termed the 'method of recycled predictions' (for reasons outlined in appendix 4). In this

approach we change the categories in the independent variables across the whole data set and then average the predictions. For example, we first assume that all the people in the data are male, and holding their other characteristics constant, we calculate the probability of each outcome and then average these. We then assume that all the people in the data are female, and again calculate predicted probabilities, holding their other characteristics constant. Again the probabilities are averaged. The difference between these two sets of average predicted probabilities reflects the difference in outcomes which can be attributed to gender, with all other characteristics held constant (StataCorp 2003, p.513).

As we would expect, the predicted probabilities (reported in appendix 4 in table 7) accord with the findings in table 1, but reading the figures is somewhat more straightforward. Someone who is male, with all other characteristics held constant, has a 38% probability of accessing VET, whereas a female (again, with all other characteristics held constant) has a 34% probability of going to VET. Thus, the effect of gender is four percentage points when it comes to VET (but seven percentage points for university), with all other characteristics held constant. Each of the other characteristics can be read in the same way. For example, Indigenous background makes no difference for VET, but a 15-percentage point difference for university. Disability has a six-percentage point difference for VET, but a ten-percentage point difference for university. Perhaps the most dramatic finding is the overwhelming impact of structural factors when it comes to university access. Those young people who went to independent schools had a predicted probability of going to university of 45%, a massive increase over the probability for young people from government schools (just 21%). While this figure of 45% is somewhat lower than the unadjusted probability (52%), it is important to keep in mind just what this is telling us. Because these comparisons are using adjusted probabilities, they are the predictions which our model makes for this outcome, with all other characteristics held constant. Thus, to learn that coming from an independent school has a large impact on university entrance invites the obvious reply: 'Yes, but surely this is because these schools have larger numbers of students whose parents are professionals or managers, and we know these kinds of family backgrounds increase the chances of going to university'. However, the adjusted probability takes account of this objection (which is one of the reasons why the actual figure drops from 52% to 45%). Because parents' occupation (as well as other factors) is included among the explanatory variables in the model, the adjusted probability of 45% is the effect of independent schooling, net of all other factors in the model. In other words, in itself, the kind of secondary school which a young person attends has a large impact on whether they end up going to university.

Our results show quite clearly that the patterns of educational disadvantage for entering university are much stronger than for entering VET. But it might be argued that these results should come as no surprise. Gaining access to university requires better school outcomes than is the case for gaining access to VET, and many of our explanatory variables are also associated with better school outcomes. For example, studies of 'cultural capital' lead us to expect that students with parents who are managers and professionals are likely to get better school results than students whose parents have a different occupational background. This is a reasonable line of argument, but it overlooks two important issues, which suggests that the institutional arrangements at a post-secondary level have some determinacy in their own right, and that post-school educational outcomes do not simply reflect the continuation of schooling patterns.

Firstly, the school sector itself makes an important difference. As we have just seen, after controlling for all other characteristics—including parents' occupational background—we still find a major difference between VET and university. In other words, the key structural factor examined in this modelling—school sector—shows profound differences between educational outcomes, differences which show deep patterns of educational disadvantage operating independently for VET and for university.

Secondly, the story changes over time, and this suggests that institutional change at the post-secondary level has played a role in the kinds of educational outcomes we are witnessing. By introducing an historical perspective—which we do with our second model—we can examine whether patterns of educational disadvantage have changed during the last 20 years, and whether

this has been the same for VET and for university. In essence, as we show below, some of the educational disadvantage which operated more strongly 20 years ago has moderated in the case of VET, but it has persisted—or even increased—in the case of university. We now turn to the results of our second model.

#### The historical model

To pursue our historical comparison, we compare the young people in the first model (a group who were aged under 25 in 2001) with a second group of people (those aged between 35 and 40 in 2001). We make the reasonable assumption that the vast majority of this second population faced the prospects of VET, university or no education at some stage in their youth, generally between the ages of 15 and 19. This allows us to further assume that, by looking at this population of respondents, we can examine how these prospects operated about 20 years ago (that is, in the late 1970s and early 1980s). From a modelling point of view, our research strategy follows a particular methodology. For technical reasons, we cannot simply compare two different models based on each population; that is, we cannot simply fit one model to the young population and one to the middleaged and then compare their coefficients. Rather, the appropriate way to model such a comparison is to pool the data and use interaction terms based on a variable which reflects each population of interest. Because we have used each population to proxy the period today (youth) and that which prevailed 20 years ago (middle-aged), we have called this variable now. In practice, we interpret our results such that if an interaction term (such as now by male) is statistically significant, then we can conclude that the effect of gender has changed during the last 20 years. On the other hand, if the term is not statistically significant, then we can conclude that the relevant effect has not changed.

The results from this modelling are shown in appendix 4 and are rather complex. The key findings, however, are straightforward. From the perspective of educational disadvantage, the situation has improved markedly for VET, but much less so for universities. Indeed, in some respects, the situation with regard to universities has worsened. Looking first at VET, we find:

- ♦ Gender has changed over time when it comes to VET experiences (vis-a-vis no education). Young men no longer dominate access to VET as was the case 20 years ago. In the late 1970s and early 1980s, males had twice the odds of females of going to VET (compared with no educational outcome). Today, this advantage has disappeared. Of course, this does not mean that issues of gender disadvantage no longer apply to young women in VET. Rather, as we will show later, the problems lie in other areas (such as the courses undertaken) rather than in matters of access.
- ❖ Occupational background has also changed over time for VET outcomes. In the late 1970s and early 1980s, young people who had a parent who was a tradesperson, and those who had a parent with professional or managerial occupation, had one-and-a-half times the odds of getting into VET, compared with a person who did not have such parents. This 'occupational advantage' has disappeared, and the parental occupation of young people no longer plays a role in access to VET.

Turning now to universities, we find:

- ♦ Children from single-parent families are less likely to enter university today, than they were 20 years ago.
- Where once second-generation non-English speaking background migrants were more likely to enter university (a common finding in the literature concerning second-generation migrants), this is no longer the case.
- Children from a family where the father has been unemployed at some stage are also less likely to enter university today, compared with the situation of 20 years ago, when this factor had no discernable impact.

❖ Twenty years ago young people who had a professional or managerial parent had very high odds of going to university; this has weakened during the last two decades. However, this 'occupational advantage' has not disappeared, as it has for VET, but remains a fundamental feature of university access.

#### Conclusion to modelling results

While keeping in mind our caveats (such as our assumption that the middle-aged population provides a window into the past), our modelling of the data shows clearly that the patterns of educational disadvantage operate quite differently for VET, compared with universities. Moreover, the situation appears to have improved for VET, but much less so for universities. This broad conclusion must, however, be tempered by a number of reservations.

While the data themselves are of a very high standard, our modelling strategies and the size of our populations of interest require us to work with aggregated categories. The non-English speaking background people category, for example, is a very broad-brush category, one which ignores important regional differences, and one which has changed over time (as the migration program has evolved). Similarly, the Catholic school sector is quite diverse, including schools which approximate the wealthy independent schools, as well as schools which are more resource-deficient than even the poorest government schools. Even where aggregation is not a problem—such as gender—the categories themselves can hide as much as they reveal. For example, the experiences of working-class women are profoundly different from those of middle-class women; as are the experiences of women from non-English speaking backgrounds compared with women born in Australia. In essence, these are the problems of homogenised categories and aggregation that were discussed earlier, and which bedevil most types of statistical modelling and provide one of the main rationales for complementing statistical findings with qualitative case studies.

We have an additional problem which arises from the functional form of our model (multinomial logistical regression). This approach requires just a few broad categories for its dependent variable, compared with the fine gradations possible with linear regression (where the dependent variable might be something like income or educational scores). As a consequence, we find ourselves lumping together some quite diverse respondents within each of the three broad categories (VET, university and no education). This raises the important question: is it really the case that those respondents who reported a 'VET experience' have actually achieved a similar outcome? Some may have undertaken a full four-year apprenticeship, while others may have only undertaken a semesterlong certificate level I course. To ensure that this diversity is acknowledged, and to deal with the other shortcomings in aggregation, we supplement our modelling results with some descriptive statistics which work with a finer level of detail. These have their own shortcomings (such as small sample counts and an absence of statistical controls), but they are essential in playing a complementary role to the multivariate results. In the next section we present the insights offered by a range of descriptive statistics.

#### Descriptive statistics

#### A closer look at gender and educational outcomes

The results of our modelling are encouraging when it comes to gender equity. Clearly, some of the gender-related aspects of educational disadvantages have moderated during the last 20 years, with more young women than men entering university and with almost the same results within VET. However, this does not mean that gender inequality within post-secondary education has evaporated. Rather, the issues are more complex than simple counts of enrolments or completions. In particular, the kinds of courses undertaken may still reflect issues of disadvantage: if these are lower-level courses, then there is less likelihood that they will lead to stable employment outcomes after completing VET studies. Looking at table 2, we do indeed find that female disadvantage is still

evident within VET. Some 95% of young women who completed a VET qualification had been enrolled in non-trades courses, such as certificate courses. By contrast, 84% of young men were in the non-trades stream. Over the last 20 years, the shift from the trades to the non-trades stream has been dramatic among men, dropping from just under a half (44%) to less than one-fifth (16%). Of course, women have also shared in this decline, but the magnitude of the fall has been far less, a drop from 8% to 5%. It should be noted, however, that, while individuals in the trades stream have declined as a proportion of total training, actual numbers in the trades stream have remained stable across the years. Thus the historical imbalance between men and women within VET has not disappeared, even though access to VET has improved considerably for women.

Table 2: Course enrolments by gender for those with VET qualifications (%)

	20 years ago					
	Male %	Female %	All persons %	Male %	Female %	All persons %
Trades courses	44	8	30	16	5	7
Non-trades courses	56	91	70	84	95	93
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100

Note: Population = Both youth sub-population (persons aged under 25, excluding those still at school) for 'today' and middle-aged sub-population (persons aged 35 to 45, excluding those who migrated after 15) for '20 years ago'.

Source: Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey data

#### Delving deeper into non-English speaking background

We mentioned earlier that the broad category of non-English speaking background is also too abstract and homogeneous. In our modelling we distinguished between first-generation non-English speaking background migrants (those born overseas) and second-generation migrants (born in Australia of non-English speaking background parents born overseas). This was a useful distinction and allowed us to discern a pattern among second-generation migrants who fared well in entering university in the late 1970s and early 1980s. In this section, we briefly look more closely at these patterns and also examine the geographical origin of some of these young people.

Table 3 shows that second-generation non-English speaking background migrants fared well at university 20 years ago, but this pattern is no longer evident today. It is now first-generation non-English speaking background migrants who fare above average in terms of university. A closer look at the data (not shown) suggests that the young people 20 years ago who fared well were the children of migrants who had predominantly come from Europe, particularly western, northern or eastern Europe (but not southern Europe).

Turning to the issue of VET access, table 3 suggests that second-generation non-English speaking background migrants fared no better than average 20 years ago, whereas today, they have fared better than average. Again looking at data on their source countries shows that these were quite a diverse group of young people, but with larger groupings drawn from those with parents who were also born in Europe (mainly western and northern Europe). The major shift in the pattern of migration to Australia—towards Asian countries from the 1980s onwards—has not yet surfaced in our data on educational outcomes. Certainly, first-generation Asian migrants show higher-than-average outcomes when it comes to both university and VET (and they contribute to the results in this table). But second-generation Asian migrants remain a very small presence in both university and VET because they are still predominantly in the schooling system (because of their younger age).

Table 3: Educational outcomes by NESB status, 20 years ago and today (%)

	20 years ago				Today			
	VET	Uni	None	Total	VET	Uni	None	Total
First-generation NESB migrant	44	24	33	100	30	39	30	100
Second-generation NESB migrant	37	32	31	100	43	21	36	100
Not NESB	38	25	37	100	36	27	37	100
All persons	38	26	36	100	36	28	36	100

Notes: Population = Both youth sub-population (persons aged under 25, excluding those still at school) for 'today' and middle-aged sub-population (persons aged 35 to 45, excluding those who migrated after 15) for '20 years ago'.

NESB = non-English speaking background.

Source: Household Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey data

#### Moving targets: School sector and occupational change

There are always additional layers of complexity in any analysis which grapples with historical change, and our study is no different. In our earlier modelling we saw that parents' occupation and the school sector were statistically significant for university outcomes, but not for VET. Moreover, the effect of school sector was particularly strong as far as university was concerned. A moment's reflection, however, reveals that these have not been static categories over this time period. A steady flow away from government schools during the 1980s and 1990s has seen the composition of independent schools change during the last 20 years. At the same time, important occupational changes have also been underway, and professionals have now grown to become the largest occupational group in the labour market, while tradespersons have seen their share of jobs decline (Watson et. al 2003, p.56).

This means that historical comparisons must be tempered by the recognition that we are dealing with a moving target. That is, the composition of each of these categories has shifted over time, and this is not evident in the data. For example, looking at table 4, we find that there has been a very large drop for universities in the government school background over the last 20 years (from 62% to 52%) and a modest drop for VET (from 80% to 75%). But these figures do not reflect the changing composition of the non-government sector. We know, from other research, that the independent schools now include a number of smaller non-wealthy religious schools. In making this observation, we do not want to suggest that the structural factors in the modelling (school sector) are not crucial aspects of educational disadvantage in contemporary Australia. Rather, the significance of compositional change is that it moderates the strength of such effects and this needs to be acknowledged, even if it can not be easily quantified.

Table 4: School sector by educational outcome, 20 years ago and today (%)

	20 years ago			Today		
	VET	Uni	None	VET	Uni	None
Government	80	62	83	75	52	79
Catholic	14	22	11	15	23	13
Independent	6	16	6	10	25	8
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100

Note: Population = Both youth sub-population (persons aged under 25, excluding those still at school) for 'today' and middle-aged sub-population (persons aged 35 to 45, excluding those who migrated after 15) for '20 years ago'.

Source: Household Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey data

# Research findings: Qualitative research

In this chapter the findings from these case studies (the full case study reports can be found at appendices 1, 2 and 3) are briefly summarised, findings which highlight the importance of examining barriers to VET access and equity from both the *structural barriers* and *individual characteristics* philosophies (the 'convergence theme' we discussed earlier). This is particularly important when it comes to developing and implementing policy initiatives aimed to address VET participation. These case studies show that the detailed knowledge and understanding which practitioners held concerning the specific characteristics of their clients was fundamental to the strategies they developed for confronting structural barriers. This included considerable empathy with these clients, and a deep awareness of the complex life experiences they had undergone. This level of knowledge and understanding was instrumental in the ability of their organisations to develop programs which fully engaged their clients.

The issues faced by individuals in these community groups—and not just those related to VET access—defeat attempts at neat categorisation. Indeed, even approaching patterns of disadvantage with the categories of demographic, family and structural factors—as we do in our modelling—is inadequate for capturing the complex interplay of multiple and cumulative disadvantage. This was most apparent in the program aimed at disconnected youth (case study 2) in which all of the following factors were interwoven:

- ♦ homelessness
- ♦ a history of adverse educational experiences
- ♦ family breakdown
- ♦ behavioural, health and legal problems
- ♦ low levels of literacy and numeracy
- ♦ drug and/or alcohol dependency
- ♦ institutional inflexibility around learning processes and arrangements.

Any attempt to address just one of these, or even a few of them, while ignoring the others would have been pointless. The relationship between factors contributing to disadvantage in VET are so interconnected that a true understanding of the problem cannot be developed without acknowledging the multiple and cumulative disadvantages which invariably surface when VET practitioners face specific groups of individuals, rather than facing 'abstract' categories. It follows from this, that approaches to addressing access and equity in VET that focus on the abstract categories are unlikely to produce good outcomes on the ground.

Indeed, these case studies reinforce the axiom that it is the way in which individual characteristics and structural barriers interact which provides the best insights into how barriers actually operate in practice. This is evident in the experience of Vietnamese outworkers (case study 1) where the history of adverse experiences for these women with the Vietnamese Government had been generalised to all governments and government institutions, and therefore acted as a major barrier when it came to their approaching government institutions in Australia, institutions like TAFE. At the same time, however, this barrier was intrinsically linked to the social isolation they faced as

migrants from non-English speaking backgrounds in Australia and the traditional cultural resistance to their working outside the home. The idea of travelling to attend formal training classes, kilometres from the area in which they lived, was clearly quite alien, if not fearful, to many of these women. The barriers to attending mainstream formal classes, in turn, contributed to their low levels of English language and literacy skills.

This compounding of disadvantage means that women like these face almost insurmountable problems in gaining access to VET. Such problems cannot be effectively addressed by shifting the onus on to the clients themselves to find pathways into VET. Outreach strategies which are community-based, which seek out specific target groups, and which acknowledge these complex patterns of disadvantage, appear to have the best chance of increasing VET access for groups like these.

There is no single solution to confronting problems of VET access. As all the case studies show, solutions will hinge on the interplay between individual characteristics and structural barriers. In a similar way, these case studies also demonstrate that VET equity goals must seek a balance between social and economic outcomes. Each of the case studies showed that the various programs needed to overcome social isolation, simply in order to begin addressing the skill development needs of the clients. This does not mean that social goals are all that matter when it comes to equity issues in VET, and that economic goals are to be reserved for 'mainstream' VET participants. Such a perspective would be both condescending and ill-founded. Rather, what we are arguing for is the importance of getting the balance right between economic and social outcomes on a program-by-program basis. And getting it right will always depend on the specific characteristics of the client group.

As the Claymore Animation Project (case study 3) showed, economic outcomes were not even a consideration in the development of this tailored TAFE course. For these women, the only issue of importance was the achievement of social outcomes which assisted in building a sense of community in a suburb which had experienced multiple social problems. On the other hand, for the Vietnamese outworkers (case study 1), it was economic outcomes—in terms of improved labour market options—that mattered most to these women, although along the way the social goals of breaking down social isolation also became a priority. As for the disconnected youth, social outcomes—particularly feeling part of a community and gaining self-confidence through educational qualifications—was of the utmost importance. But the balance here also favoured some economic outcomes, because, for the majority of these young people, their long-term goal included stable and secure employment.

All of these case studies demonstrate that, for many disadvantaged groups, social outcomes are important stepping stones to the achievement of economic outcomes. A crucial factor in determining where the balance should lie between economic and social outcomes is to be found in the nature of their disadvantage, particularly the extent to which it is multiple and compounded.

This 'stepping stone' insight is evident in the case studies in the important finding that working with the shared experiences of the participants was fundamental to the success of community-based initiatives. This is because this aspect was of such importance to the individuals involved. In other words, it is not just social *outcomes* which are important, but the fostering of social *relationships* during VET participation which is critical to the success of programs. For example, the young people who participated in the disconnected youth program (case study 2) all came from similar backgrounds and were experiencing similar hardships in everyday life. This pattern of shared experience enhanced empathy among the group and thereby minimalised the stigma which might normally attach to issues such as drug and alcohol dependency. In fact, the extent of shared experience normalised the classroom situation. For many of the participants, their experience with mainstream education had been one where they were not 'normal'—they were not like the other kids—and this was often the driving factor disconnecting them from the education system, particularly for those who still lived at home.

This phenomenon of shared experiences was particularly important in shaping the responses which practitioners developed for dealing with the barriers which specific client groups faced. Among the community-based practitioners in particular, the programs which were developed were highly flexible and geared to the needs of the specific clients. These clients did not have to fit into a pre-existing mould, rather the mould was made to fit them. By way of contrast, conventional VET programs did not confront the phenomenon of shared experiences in the same way. As one TAFE teacher explained, '... we may have one person who's homeless, or one person who *used* to have a drug problem, but we *never* have a whole class with these problems'.

Finally, the hallmark of all the community-based initiatives discussed in these case studies is the idea of ownership. Because the programs and initiatives all begin with the concrete reality of specific groups, they evolve in ways which remain close to the concerns of the participants. Not only is the provision of educational courses tailored to their specific needs, but also the direction in which the overall program heads is often under their control. As a women involved in the Claymore Animation Program explained about the staff running the program, '... they didn't *tell* us what to do, they didn't say "this is what Claymore needs", they *asked* us what *we* wanted to do'. In essence, these participants come to own their activities, whether this be the learning process, or confronting community problems. This contrasts sharply with the alienating experience of much formal post-school education, situations where students carry out tasks in order to please others, a process characterised some 30 years ago by Paulo Freire as the 'banking concept' of education (Freire 1973).

## Conclusions

The research findings discussed in this report lead to some important conclusions. These concern substantive findings, methodological insights and policy implications. The substantive findings suggest that access and equity has improved within the VET system over the last 20 years, and that in this respect, there are grounds for optimism. Indeed, the record for VET in this context is superior to that of the university sector. This optimism needs to be tempered, however, by the recognition of the limitations in our statistical results, limitations which highlighted the importance of employing detailed qualitative case studies.

Although these case studies support a general optimism about the prospects for equity in VET, they also suggest a certain degree of caution. On the one hand, the report suggests that communitybased initiatives can work very successfully within the VET framework, provided certain protocols or procedural principles are maintained. On the other hand, these case studies also raise concerns about the extent to which resourcing levels are adequate enough to fully realise the potential of these initiatives. For example, both the Claymore Animation Program and the Salvation Army Oasis Youth Network and Waverly Action for Youth Services Flexible Learning—FLOW—pilot program showed how important social outcomes were achieved because the individuals involved had a voice in determining their learning goals and acquired 'ownership' of their learning processes. In terms of the current terminology, these learners engaged in pedagogical and social practices which were 'empowering'. The resourcing issue, however, was also evident in these case studies, particularly the Behind the Label program. Although many participants expressed interest in further study, study which might lead to better labour market outcomes, the extent to which this occurred was limited. At the same time, considerable funds were made available for this program, support which was available because of the parties involved and because of its economic importance. We would not expect to see a similar degree of resources made available to other programs, particularly those where social goals were more to the fore.

In terms of methodology, this report has also found that the complementarity of quantitative and qualitative methods has been reaffirmed. The statistical modelling did indeed highlight some key patterns in VET participation and suggested how these might be related to access and equity issues. The real insights, however, were only possible because of detailed qualitative research in the field. This type of research unearthed important social processes which were not accessible through statistical modelling. It also provided us with our key conceptual insight about how cumulative disadvantage operates on the ground. In this respect, the use of grounded research in this study reinforced our reading of the literature, which had led us to reject the dualism between the *individual characteristics* and *structural barriers* philosophies. The case studies showed how a philosophy based solely on abstract client group categories makes little sense when one moves into real-world settings. Statistical modelling, despite its strengths, is obliged to operate at the level of abstract and homogeneous categories. Finally, our attempt to find a philosophical convergence between the individual characteristics approach and the structural barriers approach was also facilitated by grounded research—by detailed insights into how specific groups encountered particular structural barriers because of the cumulative disadvantages they endured.

From a policy perspective we do not wish to be prescriptive. Clearly, community-based VET initiatives deserve strong support because these approaches meet many of the requirements for good learning practices, particularly involvement and ownership by the learners themselves. However, it is also the case that more institutionalised models of VET can be equally successful. What really

matters is the appropriateness of VET provision for the target groups. If these groups can be defined in detailed and specific ways—rather than as broad abstractions—then the model of VET provision which is developed has a better chance of working on the ground.

In any policy discussion, questions of resourcing are central. Dealing with problems of cumulative disadvantage can be lengthy and costly. Years of investment may be needed to re-engage marginalised groups and encourage their learning. Some things which are not economically viable in the short term and which only appear to prioritise social outcomes may be economically justified in the long run. This is particularly the case for groups like homeless youth or prisoners. Similarly, there are other groups whose access to institutional avenues for VET is very limited. Only community-based initiatives—which emphasise social outcomes—stand much chance of engaging these groups. The women in the Claymore public housing estate come to mind. For both these examples, a strong case can be made for resourcing learning initiatives whose real achievements lie somewhere in a more distant future.

In conclusion we would argue that good access and equity policies for VET can be formulated along certain lines, without becoming prescriptive as far as targeting or priorities are concerned. This formulation should entail:

- ♦ a starting point: specific groups of individuals with multiple disadvantages
- ♦ a process: ownership of the learning by the learners
- ♦ resourcing levels: levels of resources which recognise the value of long-term outcomes and which
  are appropriate to the needs of the specific target group
- ♦ *goals*: recognition of the need to balance social and economic goals.

## References\*

- ABS (Australian Bureau of Statistics) 1997, Basic community profile: 1996 Census of population and housing, cat. no.2020.0, ABS, Canberra.
- Alcorso, C & Harrison, G 1993, Blue collar and beyond: The experiences of non-English speaking background women in the Australian labour force, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- Anderson, D 1998, 'Successful reform: Reframing the VET policy agenda', in *Different drums, one beat? Economic and social goals in education and training*, eds F Ferrier & D Anderson, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Angwin, J, Henry, C, Laskey, L, McTaggart, R & Picken, N 1998, *Paths to pathways: Vocational education and training for educationally disadvantaged groups of young people*, Deakin University, Geelong.
- ANTA (Australian National Training Authority) 1996a, Report of the review of the ANTA Agreement, AGPS, Canberra.
- ——1996b, Equity 2001: Strategies to achieve access and equity in vocational education and training for the new millennium, ANTA, Brisbane.
- ——1998, A bridge to the future: Australia's national strategy for vocational education and training 1998–2003, ANTA, Brisbane.
- Asian Women at Work & Vietnamese Women's Association of NSW 2001, Daring to act: A report on the establishment of a Vietnamese women outworkers network, New South Wales Department of Women, Sydney.
- Australian Centre for Industrial Relations Research and Training 1999, *Australia at work: Just managing?* Prentice Hall, Sydney.
- Ball, K 1999, 'Using statistical methods to interrogate large data-bases', in National Workshop on Equity Research: Report and papers from a national workshop convened by the UTS Research Centre of Vocational Education and Training, ed. J McIntyre, Research Centre of Vocational Education and Training, Sydney.
- Barnett, K 1999, ECEF Lighthouse Disability Initiative: Three case studies, Enterprise and Career Education Foundation, Sydney.
- ——2002, 'Managing diversity', in National Workshop on Equity Research: Report and papers from a national workshop convened by the UTS Research Centre of Vocational Education and Training, ed. J McIntyre, Research Centre of Vocational Education and Training, Sydney.
- Blanchflower, D (nd), Youth labor markets in twenty three countries: A comparison using micro data,
  Department of Economics, Dartmouth College, Centre for Economic Performance, London School of
  Economics and National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Blanchflower, D & Machin, S 1995, *Product market competition, wages and productivity: International evidence from establishment-level data*, Department of Economics, Dartmouth College Centre for Economic Performance, London School of Economics and National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Borthwick, S, Rousell, S & Briant, J 2002, Why people don't participate: Factors inhibiting individual investment in education and training, Department of Education, Science and Training, Canberra.
- Buchanan, J, Schofield, K, Briggs, C, Considine, G, Hagar, P, Hawke, G, Kitay, J, Meagher, G, MacIntyre, J, Mounier, A & Ryan, S 2001, *Beyond flexibility: Skills and work in the future*', Board of Vocational Education and Training, Sydney.
- Burke, G 1998, 'Education and training in Australia: Reforms and results', in *Different drums, one beat? Economic and social goals in education and training*, eds F Ferrier & D Anderson, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Carnoy, M 1994, 'Efficiency and equity in vocational education and training policies', *International Labour Review*, vol.133, no.2, pp.221–40.
- Clayton, A & Mitchel, R 1999, 'Study on employment situations and worker protection in Australia', *A report to the International Labour Office*, viewed November 2003, <a href="http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/ifpdial/downloads/wpnr/australia.pdf">http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/ifpdial/downloads/wpnr/australia.pdf</a>>.
- Coleman, J, Campbell, E, Hobson, C, McPartland, J, Mood, A, Weinfeld, F & York, R 1966, *Equality of educational opportunity*, Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- Considine, G 2001, *Vocational education and training and the labour market: A statistical profile*, Board of Vocational Education and Training, Sydney.

\_

<sup>\*</sup> These references refer both to the main report and the online support document.

- Cully, M & Curtain, R 2001, 'New apprenticeships: An unheralded labour market program', *Australian Bulletin of Labour*, vol.27, no.3, pp.204–15.
- Cully, M & Richardson, S, 2002, *Employers' contribution to training: How does Australia compare with overseas?*, a discussion paper for NCVER, National Institute of Labour Studies, Adelaide.
- Dawkins, J 1992, 'Post-compulsory education and training: The national challenge', in *Unicorn, Journal of the Australian College of Education*, special issue: The Finn Review, vol.18, no.1, February.
- Department of Industrial Relations 1999, Behind the label—the NSW Government clothing outworker strategy, issues paper, DIR, Sydney.
- Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development 2000, *A report on Victoria's textile, clothing, footwear and leather industries*, The Strategic Audit of Victorian Industry, Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development, Melbourne.
- Durnam, D & Boughton, B 1999, Succeeding against the odds: The outcomes attained by Indigenous students in Aboriginal community-controlled adult education colleges, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Evatt Foundation 1998, 'Reforming homework, a statistical profile and the NSW code of practice', *A report for the NSW Minister for Public Works and Services*, Evatt Foundation, Sydney.
- Family and Community Services 2003, 'Animated residents take the lead in disadvantaged communities', *Can Do Community*, viewed October 2003, <a href="http://www.facs.gov.au/cando/casestudies/Animated.html">http://www.facs.gov.au/cando/casestudies/Animated.html</a>>.
- Ferguson, R 1991, 'Paying for public education: New evidence on how and why money matters', *Harvard Journal on Legislation*, vol.28, no.2, pp.465–98.
- Ferrier, F & Anderson, D 1998, 'Introduction', in *Different drums, one beat? Economic and social goals in education and training,* eds F Ferrier & D Anderson, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Freire, P 1973, Pedagogy of the oppressed, Penguin Education, Middlesex.
- Golding, B & Volkoff, V 1998, 'Participation in VET in Australia: Different drives, same needs?', in *Different drums, one beat? Economic and social goals in education and training*, eds F Ferrier & D Anderson, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Hall, R, Buchanan, J & Considine, G 2002, 'You value what you pay for': Enhancing employers' contributions to skill formation and use, Dusseldorp Skills Forum, Sydney.
- Hanushek, E 1986, 'The economics of schooling: Production and efficiency in public schools', *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol.XXIV, pp.1141–77.
- Hutson, S & Liddiard, M 1994, Youth homelessness: The construction of a social issue, Macmillan Press, London.
- Kain, J & Singleton, K 1996, 'Equality of educational opportunity revisited', New England Economic Review May/June, pp.87–111.
- Kangan, M 1974, TAFE in Australia: Report on needs in technical and further education, vol.1, Commonwealth Tertiary Education Commission, Canberra.
- Kemp, D 1998, 'The VET market', in *The market for vocational education and training*, eds C Robinson & R Kenyon, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Ketsche, P & Custer, W 2001, The effect of the tax subsidy on risk pooling in the employment-based health insurance market, Center for Health Services Research and Center for Risk Management and Insurance Research, Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, research report, no.2001–1.
- Lamb, S, Long, M & Malley, J 1998, Access and equity in vocational education and training: Results from longitudinal surveys of Australian youth, ACER research monograph, no. 55, Australian Centre for Educational Research, Melbourne.
- Livingstone, D 1999, 'Lifelong learning and underemployment in the knowledge society: A North American perspective', *Comparative Education*, vol.35, no.2, pp.163–86.
- MacIntyre, J & Egg, M 2001, 'Urban disadvantage and provider equity strategies', RCVET Working Paper 01–03, Research Centre for Vocational Education and Training, Sydney.
- Mayhew, C & Quinlan, M 1998, Outsourcing and occupational health and safety: A comparative study of factory-based and outworkers in the Australian TCF industry, monograph no.40, Industrial Relations Research Centre, University of New South Wales, Sydney.
- Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research 2002, *Hilda survey annual report 2002*, Melbourne Institute, Melbourne.
- NCVER (National Centre for Vocational Education Research) 2001, VET in Australia: 1991–2000, NCVER, Adelaide.
- ——2002, Australian vocational education and training statistics 2001: An overview, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Nelson, B 2003, '\$2.1 billion for skills opportunities for all Australians', media release, 13 May 2003, viewed August 2003, <a href="http://www.dest.gov.au/ministers/nelson/budget03/bud33\_130503.htm">http://www.dest.gov.au/ministers/nelson/budget03/bud33\_130503.htm</a>.
- New South Wales Department for Women 2002, NSW Government action plan for culturally and linguistically diverse women—2002–2004, viewed November 2003, <a href="http://www.women.nsw.gov.au/pdf/ap02\_04/">http://www.women.nsw.gov.au/pdf/ap02\_04/</a> diverse.pdf>.
- New South Wales Government 2001, 'Industrial Relations (Ethical Clothing Trades) Bill 2001', viewed October 2003, <a href="http://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/prod/parlment/nswbills.nsf/0/803381802ca070b4ca256b1300140588/\$FILE/b01-097-p05.pdf">http://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/prod/parlment/nswbills.nsf/0/803381802ca070b4ca256b1300140588/\$FILE/b01-097-p05.pdf</a>.

- New South Wales Office of Industrial Relations 2003, *Behind the label: A NSW Government initiative—success stories behind the label*, viewed September 2003, <a href="http://www.dir.nsw.gov.au/behindthelabel/media/index\_success.html">http://www.dir.nsw.gov.au/behindthelabel/media/index\_success.html</a>>.
- Power, P 2002, 'The Animation Project—Campbelltown's public housing estates', paper presented to the SEN Learning Movement Workshop on Public Community Housing, viewed October 2003, <a href="http://text.sen.org.au/resources/papers/1031554396\_3371.html">http://text.sen.org.au/resources/papers/1031554396\_3371.html</a>.
- Powles, M & Anderson, D 1996, 'Participation and access in TAFE: Social service or economic utility?', *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Vocational Education Research*, vol.4, no.1, pp.97–129.
- Rural Industry Working Group 2001, *Skill needs now and in the future in the rural industry*, Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs, Canberra.
- Ryan, C 2002, What are the longer-term outcomes for individuals completing vocational education and training qualifications?, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Sayer, B 2001, Personal communication (Bryan Sayer, Statistician, SSS Inc.).
- Schwab, R 1998, 'Dollars and sense: Economic and social tensions in Indigenous education', in *Different drums, one beat? Economic and social goals in education and training,* eds F Ferrier & D Anderson, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Semmens, B 1998, 'Vocational education and training for offenders', *Training Agenda: A Journal of Vocational Education and Training*, vol.6, no.3, pp.25–6.
- Semmens, B & Oldfield, J 1999, Vocational education and training in Australian correctional institutions, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Smith, E & Keating, J 2003, From training reform to training packages, Social Science Press, Sydney.
- Society of St Vincent de Paul 2001, 'Communities bringing communities to life', Animation factsheet no.1, Society of St Vincent de Paul, Sydney.
- Spierings, J 2000, Developing a new regional education, employment and training agenda: Early lessons from Whittlesea, Dusseldorp Skills Forum, Sydney.
- StataCorp 2003, Stata statistical software: Release 8, College Station, Texas.
- Stephens, J & Bertone, S 1995, Manufacturing uncertainty: Non-English speaking background women and training, AGPS, Canberra.
- Watson, L, Kearns, P, Grant, J & Cameron, B 2000, Equity in the learning society: Rethinking equity strategies for post-compulsory education and training, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Watson, I, Buchanan, B, Campbell, I & Briggs, C 2003, Fragmented futures: New challenges in working life, Federation Press, Sydney.

# Support document details

Additional information relating to this research is available in *Who's missing out? Access and equity in vocational education and training—Support document.* It can be accessed from NCVER's website <a href="http://www.ncver.edu.au">http://www.ncver.edu.au</a>. The document contains:

♦ Appendix 1: Behind the label

♦ Appendix 2: FLOW

♦ Appendix 3: Animation program

♦ Appendix 4: Statistical details



The National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) Program is coordinated and managed by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research, on behalf of the Australian Government and state and territory governments, with funding provided through the Department of Education, Science and Training.

This program is based upon priorities approved by ministers with responsibility for vocational education and training (VET). This research aims to improve policy and practice in the VET sector.

Research funding is awarded to organisations via a competitive grants process.

### National Centre for Vocational Education Research Ltd

Level 11, 33 King William Street Adelaide SA 5000

PO Box 8288 Station Arcade South Australia 5000

Phone +61 8 8230 8400 Fax +61 8 8212 3436 <u>Email ncver@ncver.edu.au</u>

www.ncver.edu.au